Prevalence of new variants of *Chlamydia trachomatis* escaping detection by the Aptima Combo 2 assay, England, June to August 2019

David J Roberts¹, Grahame S Davis¹, Michelle J Cole¹, Dixita Naik¹, Hitiksha Maru¹, Neil Woodford¹, Peter Muir², Paddy Horner³, Ian Simms¹, George Thickett¹, Paul Crook⁴, Kirsty Foster⁵, Nick Andrews⁶, John Saunders¹, Helen Fifer¹, Kate Folkard¹, O Noel Gill¹, on behalf of the incident management team⁷

- 1. National Infection Service, Public Health England, London, United Kingdom
- 2. South West Regional Public Health Laboratory, Public Health England, Bristol, United Kingdom
- 3. Population Health Sciences, University of Bristol, Bristol, United Kingdom
- 4. Field Service South East and London, Public Health England, London, United Kingdom
- 5. Public Health England North East Centre, Newcastle-upon-Tyne, United Kingdom
- 6. Statistics, Modelling and Economics Department, Public Health England, London, United Kingdom
- 7. Members are listed in the acknowledgements

Correspondence: Ian Simms (ian.simms@phe.gov.uk)

Citation style for this article:

Roberts David J, Davis Grahame S, Cole Michelle J, Naik Dixita, Maru Hitiksha, Woodford Neil, Muir Peter, Horner Paddy, Simms Ian, Thickett George, Crook Paul, Foster Kirsty, Andrews Nick, Saunders John, Fifer Helen, Folkard Kate, Gill O Noel, on behalf of the incident management team. Prevalence of new variants of Chlamydia trachomatis escaping detection by the Aptima Combo 2 assay, England, June to August 2019. Euro Surveill. 2019;24(38):pii=1900557. https://doi. org/10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2019.24.38.1900557

Article submitted on 05 Sep 2019 / accepted on 19 Sep 2019 / published on 19 Sep 2019

We identified two new *Chlamydia trachomatis* (CT) variants escaping Aptima Combo 2 (AC2) assay detection, in clinical specimens of two patients. One had a C1514T mutation the other a G1523A mutation, both within the AC2 23S rRNA target region. The prevalence of such variants among persons tested for CT in England was estimated to be fewer than 0.003%.

At the end of April 2019, Public Health England (PHE) was alerted, via an international Epidemic Intelligence System-Sexually Transmitted Infections (EPIS-STI) post from Finland, of false-negative Chlamydia trachomatis (CT) test results using the Aptima Combo 2 (AC2) assay (Hologic Inc., San Diego, California, United States (US)), a nucleic acid amplification test (NAAT) for CT (target: 23S rRNA) and Neisseria gonorrhoeae (GC) (target: 16S rRNA). Discrepant results between the AC2 assay and the Aptima Chlamydia trachomatis assay (ACT) (target: 16S rRNA) were reported to have occurred primarily in specimens that had AC2 relative light units (RLU) from 20 to 84 [1]. These falsenegative AC2 results [2,3] were attributed to a C1515T mutation in the CT 23S rRNA gene. In early June 2019, Hologic Inc. issued a Field Safety Notice (FSN) to AC2using laboratories, recommending ACT reflex retesting of AC₂ CT-negative with RLU≥15, CT-equivocal, or GC-equivocal/-positive (if CT-negative/equivocal) specimens to ensure detection of the Finnish new variant CT strain (F-nvCT) [3]. A European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC) rapid risk assessment recommended countries estimate the spread of F-nvCT to inform the need for patient recall and retesting [4]. Here we report results from an investigation

www.eurosurveillance.org

coordinated by a multiagency incident management team (IMT) to ascertain the prevalence of new variants of *Chlamydia trachomatis* escaping detection by the Aptima Combo 2 assay in England.

Initial response and risk assessment

The IMT was informed by Hologic Inc. that 42 laboratories in the nine PHE regions in England, one in Isle of Man (IoM) and one in Scotland were using the AC2 assay. De-duplicated test data from laboratories in England extracted from the CTAD *Chlamydia* surveillance system [5] showed AC2 assays accounted for 44% (1,684,028/3,863,336) of CT tests nationally in 2018.

In undertaking the risk assessment, a local prevalence threshold of 0.1% was chosen by the IMT as a balance between confidence that any health risk would be minimal and the amount of data that could be obtained from all regions within a short timeframe. To inform whether a patient recall was indicated, the IMT estimated the F-nvCT prevalence in each region by: (i) asking laboratories in England/IoM (IoM was included within the North West region) using AC2 to forward weekly AC2 testing and retesting data to the IMT (specimens eligible for retest were defined as per the FSN, weekly AC2 tests reported were compared with April 2018 to March 2019 average weekly AC2 tests to estimate the likely completeness of laboratory reporting); (ii) asking laboratories using AC2 to refer discrepant specimens (retested specimens found to have a positive result using ACT) for reference laboratory investigation; (iii) undertaking partial 23S rRNA gene Sanger sequencing [1] to detect

TABLE 1

Aptima Combo 2 (AC2) *Chlamydia trachomatis* tests expected and reported by region, England, 1 June^a–18 August 2019 (n = 37)

Region	Laboratories using AC2	Laboratories using AC2 and reporting in period	Weekly AC2 tests expected	Number of reporting weeks	Estimated AC2 tests expected in period ^b	AC2 tests reported	AC2 tests reported as percentage of estimated (%)
East Midlands	2	2	990	10	9,757	7,355	75
East of England	5	3	1,165	10	11,650	3,077	26
London	5	4	13,680	9	123,117	82,753	67
North East	1	1	563	7	3,862	3,966	103
North West ^c	7	7	4,221	11	47,030	65,935	140
South East	5	3	3,438	8	27,504	10,471	38
South West	4	4	3,353	10	33,054	31,510	95
West Midlands	3	3	3,245	7	23,641	23,747	100
Yorkshire and Humber	5	4	3,180	9	28,164	13,691	49
Total	37	31	33,834	NA	307,779 ^d	242,505	79

NA: not applicable.

^a Two Public Health England laboratories were asked to initiate retesting before the Hologic Inc. Field Safety Notice [3].

^b The values in the column may not match the product of weekly AC2 tests expected multiplied by reporting weeks because of the rounding of AC2 expected weekly tests and reporting weeks.

^c Isle of Man included in North West subtotals.

^d The total for all of England is calculated from the sum of estimated AC2 tests expected in the period, not the product of weekly AC2 tests expected multiplied by reporting weeks.

mutations in the AC2-CT target region; and (iv) calculating the one-sided exact-binomial upper 95% confidence interval for new variant CT AC2-negative (nvCT/ AC2neg) prevalence among those tested.

Prospective Chlamydia trachomatis testing and retesting data

Four of 43 laboratories expected to report did so via the same central laboratory, five laboratories confirmed they were not using the test, and two laboratories not originally indicated by Hologic Inc. to be using the AC2 test also reported data or sent discrepant specimens. By 18 August 2019, 31 of 37 laboratories using AC2 reported on 242,505 tests from 1 June 2019. This was 79% of the estimated expected number of tests (n = 307,779) based on historical laboratory throughput (Table 1). From 1 June to 18 August 2019, 14,075 of 242,505 (5.8%) specimens were CT-positive on the AC2 test and 11,518 of 242,505 (4.7%) were retested (Table 2). PHE's reference laboratory received 266 discrepant specimens from 26 laboratories.

Noticeably higher retesting rates were seen in London and the North West (Table 2). This was considered due to factors such as operational differences between laboratories and higher rates of gonorrhoea diagnosis [6]. In accordance with the FSN, samples that were positive for gonorrhoea were retested.

Reference laboratory analyses

By 18 August 2019, reference laboratory investigations had been completed on 209 of 266 (79%) of the discrepant specimens received by PHE. The first 19 specimens were referred to the World Health Organization Collaborating Centre for Gonorrhoea and Other STIs at Örebro University, Sweden and the remainder processed within PHE. The C1515T mutation was not detected. However, two new mutations were detected. The first was a C1514T mutation that was detected in July from one symptomatic male (two specimens) in their 20s with prior heterosexual contacts in the US. The second was a G1523A mutation that was also detected in July in a specimen from an asymptomatic female in their 20s; no information on sexual contacts was available. Neither mutation was recorded in the US National Center for Biotechnology Information's GenBank. These two nvCT/AC2neg cases originated from 242,505 AC2 tests reported by laboratories using AC2 between 1 June and 18 August 2019. The sequences derived from these two cases have been deposited into GenBank (accession numbers: MN603925 for the C1514T mutation and MN603926 for the G1523A mutation*).

Assuming the AC2 test data and referred specimens were broadly representative of the population, and that very few individuals would have had duplicate specimens in the period, the upper 95% confidence interval boundary for nvCT/AC2neg prevalence among those tested in England was calculated to be 0.003% (1 in 38,519), ranging from 0.004% to 0.097% by region, and 0.001% nationally for F-nvCT.

A sensitivity analysis was undertaken to account for the fact that not all reference laboratory investigations had been completed (denominator = 220,985 AC2

TABLE 2

Results of retesting Aptima Combo 2 (AC2) *Chlamydia trachomatis* specimens with Aptima *Chlamydia trachomatis* assay (ACT)^a by region, England, 1 June^b–18 August 2019

Region	AC2 tests reported	AC2 tests retested by ACT	Re-test percent (%)	Discrepants received ^c
East Midlands	7,355	78	1.1	4
East of England	3,077	39	1.3	0
London	82,753	6,004	7.3	74
North East	3,966	12	0.3	3
North West ^d	65,935	3,774	5.7	62
South East	10,471	307	2.9	30
South West	31,510	392	1.2	32
West Midlands	23,747	688	2.9	29
Yorkshire and Humber	13,691	224	1.6	32
Total	242,505	11,518	4.7	266

^a Specimens eligible for retest were defined as per the Hologic Inc. Field Safety Notice [3].

^b Two Public Health England laboratories were asked to initiate retesting before the Hologic Inc. Field Safety Notice [3].

^c Refers to discrepant specimens received by Public Health England Colindale for reference laboratory investigations.

^d Isle of Man included in North West subtotals.

tests). The nvCT/AC2neg prevalence estimates produced by the sensitivity analysis (0.003% for England, 0.004-0.109% by region) were similar to the original estimates.

Discussion

Despite extensive investigation, there is no evidence of the presence of F-nvCT in England to date. However, investigations did identify two previously unpublished variants that had resulted in false-negative AC2 tests. Prevalence of nvCT/AC2neg was estimated to be very low; likely fewer than 0.003% nationally and less than 0.1% at a regional level. These estimates should be considered in the context of a 0.3% false-negative yield expected from normal AC2 test performance assuming an overall sensitivity of 94.5% [7] and an observed CT prevalence of 5.8%. As so few individuals were likely to have received a false-negative test result before June 2019, a patient recall was not indicated.

Two other countries, Finland and Sweden, have published data regarding investigations to identify F-nvCT in their populations, confirming its presence [1,8]. Ten cases (denominator unknown) with F-nvCT identified in Helsinki and Turku, Finland were reported in April 2019. Based on their RLU values, 0.4% of 9,472 tested specimens (6% of CT-positives) in Turku were suspected to contain the variant in late 2018 [1]. In Örebro, Sweden, F-nvCT was identified in two discrepant specimens sequenced (1.3% of CT-positives) [8]. Other variants were not reported, but the number of discrepant specimens sequenced was much fewer than in England.

This new variant CT event follows the earlier Swedish variant-CT (swCT) in 2006 [9], where a 377-bp deletion in the 7.5-kb chlamydial cryptic plasmid prevented detection by two widely used NAATs [10]. Strains

lacking the entire 7.5-kb chlamydial cryptic plasmid have been reported, most recently from Australia [11,12]. These variant CT events, including the current event, demonstrate genetic diversity within NAAT target sites. The swCT spread throughout Sweden and its ability to escape detection was thought to confer a survival advantage, increasing the strain reproductive rate [13]. However, only one to two cases of swCT were found in Norway, Denmark [14], Ireland [14] and France [15]. Our estimates of very low nvCT/AC2neg prevalence and the small number of cases of the 2006 swCT detected outside of Sweden suggests that transmission also depends on host population contact dynamics and health-seeking behaviour, as well as health service factors.

Though the emergence of further variants able to evade detection by specific NAATs may occur, adverse impacts of such may be largely prevented by using CT-diagnostic tests with multiple molecular targets. Surveillance methods could also be developed. National sentinel surveillance for mutant strains could be introduced, similar to the technique used in the Netherlands to monitor the potential introduction of swCT [16]. This would involve subjecting a sub-set of CT clinical specimens to alternative NAAT tests with different molecular targets, or a variant-specific NAAT. Statistical process control (SPC) methods could also be used to compare the observed percentage of CT-positive samples with those expected from historic data to flag a deviation. However, detecting a small number of cases potentially confined to only one region using SPC methods may be difficult as it requires reliable, standardised specimen and data flows. Conducting rapid, prospective, ad hoc surveillance to a regional geographical granularity when a new variant is suspected, the methods we describe here, is also an alternative approach.

Provided the FSN is adhered to, current reflex testing arrangements should prevent nvCT/AC2neg variants that prospectively arise or are introduced into England from escaping detection. This reflex testing should continue until a revised version of the AC2 test is deployed. Even so, further novel variants escaping CT-NAAT detection may arise. F-nvCT [1] and the variant recently reported from Australia [11] were discovered because of the recognition of discrepant CT results from different NAATs. Continued vigilance is required from clinicians and laboratories to recognise falsenegative tests in the presence of symptoms *compatible* with chlamydia infection.

*Addendum

The GenBank accession numbers were added on 4 December 2019.

Acknowledgements

We would like to acknowledge:

Other incident management team (IMT) member agencies: National Health Service England (NHSE), National Health Service Improvement (NHSI), Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency (MHRA), British Association for Sexual Health and HIV (BASHH);

Other members of the IMT: Buitendam, E, Hughes, G, Cook, C, Mills, J, Migchelsen, S, O'Brien, E (PHE National Infection Service); Cameron, R (Health Protection Scotland); McCalla-Bedward, J, Mojisola, A (MHRA); Wells, D, Douglas, A (NHSE);

Laboratories who have submitted data and clinical specimens;

Unemo, M and Hadad, R (World Health Organization Collaborating Centre for Gonorrhoea and Other STIs), National Reference Laboratory for STIs, Department of Laboratory Medicine, Faculty of Medicine and Health, Örebro University) in Örebro, Sweden for sequencing specimens in the early stages of this incident;

Migchelsen, S who conducted early analyses;

Hughes, G who chaired the IMT temporarily;

Colleagues at the ECDC who co-ordinated international liaison around this incident; and

Day, M who helped set-up the initial specimen work-flow and laboratory staff in the Clinical Service Unit, PHE for processing the specimens.

Funding: We received no specific funding for this work.

Conflict of interest

None declared.

Authors' contributions

DJR, GD, MC, PM, PH, IS, GT, KF, KFol, HF, JS, PC and NG were involved in the design of the study. NA provided statistical expertise. DN, HM, MC and HF performed the PHE reference laboratory work. NW oversaw PHE reference laboratory investigations. GD, IS and GT analysed the data. DJR and ONG drafted the paper, which was commented on and approved by all the authors.

References

- Rantakokko-Jalava K, Hokynar K, Hieta N, Keskitalo A, Jokela P, Muotiala A, et al. Chlamydia trachomatis samples testing falsely negative in the Aptima Combo 2 test in Finland, 2019. Euro Surveill. 2019;24(22):1900298. https:// doi.org/10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2019.24.22.1900298 PMID: 31164192
- Unemo M, Getman D, Hadad R, Cole M, Thomson N, Puolakkainen M, et al. Letter to the editor: Chlamydia trachomatis samples testing falsely negative in the Aptima Combo 2 test in Finland, 2019. Euro Surveill. 2019;24(24):1900354. https://doi.org/10.2807/1560-7917. ES.2019.24.24.1900354 PMID: 31213219
- Hologic Inc. Urgent Field Safety Notice (FSN). Aptima Combo 2 Assay (for European Distribution). Brussels: Hologic, Inc.; 2019. Available from: https://mhra.filecamp.com/public/ file/3ql3-occ8agbc
- 4. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). Rapid risk assessment: Chlamydia trachomatis false-negative test results by Aptima Combo 2 CT/NG assay (Hologic) in the EU/EEA, 2019. Stockholm: ECDC; 2019. Available from: https:// ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications-data/rapid-risk-assessmentchlamydia-trachomatis-false-negative-test-results-aptima
- Public Health England (PHE). CTAD Chlamydia Surveillance System. London: PHE; 2012. Available from: https://www.gov. uk/guidance/ctad-chlamydia-surveillance-system
- Public Health England (PHE). Sexually transmitted infections (STIs): annual data tables. London: PHE; 2019. Available from: https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/ sexually-transmitted-infections-stis-annual-data-tables
- Gaydos CA, Cartwright CP, Colaninno P, Welsch J, Holden J, Ho SY, et al. Performance of the Abbott RealTime CT/ NG for detection of Chlamydia trachomatis and Neisseria gonorrhoeae. J Clin Microbiol. 2010;48(9):3236-43. https:// doi.org/10.1128/JCM.01019-10 PMID: 20668135
- Unemo M, Hansen M, Hadad R, Lindroth Y, Fredlund H, Puolakkainen M, et al. Finnish new variant of Chlamydia trachomatis escaping detection in the Aptima Combo 2 assay also present in Örebro County, Sweden, May 2019. Euro Surveill. 2019;24(26):1900370. https://doi.org/10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2019.24.26.1900370 PMID: 31266590
- Ripa T, Nilsson P. A variant of Chlamydia trachomatis with deletion in cryptic plasmid: implications for use of PCR diagnostic tests. Euro Surveill. 2006;11(11):E061109.2. PMID: 17213548
- Herrmann B, Törner A, Low N, Klint M, Nilsson A, Velicko I, et al. Emergence and spread of Chlamydia trachomatis variant, Sweden. Emerg Infect Dis. 2008;14(9):1462-5. https://doi. org/10.3201/eid1409.080153 PMID: 18760021
- 11. Sweeney EL, Bletchly C, Gupta R, Whiley DM. False-negative Chlamydia polymerase chain reaction result caused by a cryptic plasmid-deficient Chlamydia trachomatis strain in Australia. Sex Health. 2019;16(4):394-6. https://doi. org/10.1071/SH18205 PMID: 31270010
- Peterson EM, Markoff BA, Schachter J, de la Maza LM. The 7.5kb plasmid present in Chlamydia trachomatis is not essential for the growth of this microorganism. Plasmid. 1990;23(2):144-8. https://doi.org/10.1016/0147-619X(90)90033-9 PMID: 2362949
- Söderblom T, Blaxhult A, Fredlund H, Herrmann B. Impact of a genetic variant of Chlamydia trachomatis on national detection rates in Sweden. Euro Surveill. 2006;11(12):E061207.1. PMID: 17213562
- 14. Savage EJ, Ison CA, van de Laar MJWESSTI network. Results of a Europe-wide investigation to assess the presence of a new variant of Chlamydia trachomatis. Euro Surveill. 2007;12(10):E3-4. https://doi.org/10.2807/esm.12.10.00736-en PMID: 17997927
- de Barbeyrac B, Raherison S, Cado S, Normandin F, Clerc M, Clairet V, et al. French situation concerning the Swedish Chlamydia trachomatis variant. Euro Surveill. 2007;12(10):E11-2. https://doi.org/10.2807/esm.12.10.00740-en PMID: 17997924
- Morré SA, Catsburg A, de Boer M, Spaargaren J, de Vries HJ, Schirm J, et al. Monitoring the potential introduction of the Swedish Chlamydia trachomatis variant (swCT) in the Netherlands. Euro Surveill. 2007;12(10):E9-10. https://doi. org/10.2807/esm.12.10.00739-en PMID: 17997930

License, supplementary material and copyright

This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY 4.0) Licence. You may share and adapt the material, but must give appropriate credit to the source, provide a link to the licence and indicate if changes were made.

Any supplementary material referenced in the article can be found in the online version.

This article is copyright of the authors or their affiliated institutions, 2019.